
 

 

 

Please ask for: Howard Bassett 

 
 

 
Direct Dial: 01392 265107 

Email: howard.bassett@exeter.gov.uk 

Our ref:  

 
To the Chair and Members  
of the Planning Committee 
 

Your ref:  

 

 
Office of Corporate Manager Democratic & Civic Support 

Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter, EX1 1JN Tel: 01392 277888 Fax: 01392 265593 www.exeter.gov.uk 

 

A Special Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held in the RENNES ROOM, CIVIC 
CENTRE, PARIS STREET, EXETER at 5.30 pm on MONDAY 8TH JULY 2013 to consider the 
following business. If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact 
Howard Bassett, Democratic Services Officer (Committees) on Exeter 265107. 
 
Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the Customer Service Centre, Paris Street.  
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present 

1 APOLOGIES  

 To receive apologies for absence from Committee members.  
 

 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been 
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the 
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the 
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave 
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item. 
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the day of the meeting. 
  
 

 

3 LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 EXCLUSION 
OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 

 It is not considered that the Committee would be likely to exclude the press and 
public during the consideration of any of the items on this agenda but, if it should 
wish to do so, then the following resolution should be passed: - 
 

RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for particular item(s) on the 
grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 

 



Public Speaking 

Public speaking on planning applications and tree preservation orders is permitted at this 
Committee.  Only one speaker in support and one opposed to the application may speak and the 
request must be made by 5pm on the Thursday before the meeting (full details available on 

request from the Democratic Services Officer). 
 

4 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. 13/3219/03 - FORMER FOXHAYES PRIMARY 
SCHOOL, GLOUCESTER ROAD, EXETER 

 

 To consider the report of the Assistant Director City Development. 
 

(Report to Committee meeting of 24 June attached and update to follow) 
  
 

3 - 10 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING  

 
 The next scheduled meeting of the Planning Committee will be held on 

Monday 22 July 2013 5.30 pm. in the Civic Centre.  
 
 

 
 

Membership - 
Councillors Bialyk (Chair), Spackman (Deputy Chair), Choules, Denham, Donovan, Edwards, 
Mrs Henson, Mitchell, Owen, Prowse, Sutton, Tippins and Winterbottom 
 

 

Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print 
on request to Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 
265275. 

 
Please remember to recycle. If you would prefer not to receive paper copies please let us 
know. Contact Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 265197 or email 
committee.services@exeter.gov.uk  

Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site 
http://www.exeter.gov.uk.  This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings.  
Alternatively, contact Howard Bassett on (01392) 265107 for further information. 



 
 
ITEM NO.  1 COMMITTEE DATE: 24/06/2013 
 
APPLICATION NO:   13/3219/03 FULL PLANNING PERMISSION 
APPLICANT: Mr Whitlock 

Steiner Academy Exeter 
PROPOSAL:  Consent for the installation of temporary buildings on land 

at Gloucester Road for use by the Steiner Academy Exeter 
(education use (D1)). Creation of temporary outdoor play 
area and associated works. Temporary consent for up to 
three years. 

LOCATION:  Former Foxhayes Primary School, Gloucester Road, 
Exeter, EX4 2EE 

REGISTRATION DATE:  02/05/2013 
EXPIRY DATE: 27/06/2013 
 

13

66

1

1
5

1

2

2

56

1
7

1

3

El Sub Sta

61a

13

12

15

12

27

37

41

5

10

51

8

65 57

51

39

66

56

6
1

2

5
9

86

7
6

PINE
 AVE

NUE

El

Sta
Sub

CYP
RES

S DR
IVE

TRURO DRIVE

G
LO
U
CE
STER

 R
O
A
D

LB

 
Scale 1:2000 
This map is based on Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her 
Majesty’s Stationery Office A Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. Exeter City Council 100049053 

 
HISTORY OF SITE 

 
94/0759/26 -  Single-storey extension to form pre-school unit  17/01/1995 
01/1239/26 -  Ground floor extension to provide nursery 

classroom on north elevation 
PER 15/10/2001 

10/0290/26 -  Access road from west boundary with Gloucester 
Road. 

PER 11/05/2011 

  
DESCRIPTION OF SITE/PROPOSAL 
 
The application site comprises a parcel of land extending to approx 0.75 hectare situated on 
the east side of Gloucester Road. Aside from the boundary with Gloucester Road itself, the 
site is bounded by the gardens of existing residential properties. Vehicular access to the site 
is provided from Gloucester Road, and two historical pedestrian access points exist in the 
south-east corner of the site, one leading onto Pine Avenue and one onto Truro Drive. The 
recognised planning use of the site is for educational use with the site previously being 
occupied by Foxhayes Primary School (which had a capacity of 235 pupils), although the 

Agenda Item 4

Page 3



buildings associated with the former school have since been removed and the site is 
currently vacant. 
 

The proposal comprises the erection of a series of temporary classrooms located around the 
existing access road and turning head for use as a school for a temporary period of up to 3 
years. These temporary buildings would utilise the slab foundations that remain from the 
previous school buildings. The buildings would be single storey in nature and have a 
combined floor area of 687 m². The proposed development will provide temporary 
accommodation for a new state funded free school, in the form of a Steiner Academy, whilst 
they secure a permanent site elsewhere within the city. This temporary proposal will provide 
for up to 130 pupils in the first year (reception to Year 3 and Year 7 only), rising to 182 pupils 
in the second year (reception to Year 4 and Years 7 & 8). Although consent is sought for 3 
years it is anticipated that the third year will not be required as the permanent site should be 
up and running by then. The school needs to be operational by September 2013 and 
therefore this application is key to their strategy. 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION SUPPLIED BY THE APPLICANT 
 
The application is accompanied by the following supporting information -  
 

• Design and Access Statement 

• Planning Statement 

• Transport Statement, and  

• School Travel Plan. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
3 letters of representation have been received raising the following issues -  
 

• previous damage to boundaries 

• proximity of buildings and play area to adjoining residential property - visual impact and 
disruption associated with children playing 

• increased traffic/congestion 

• preference for a single dwelling on the site. 
 
In addition to the written representations referred to above a number of local residents have 
contacted the case officer by phone to raise issues relating to highway matters (including 
pedestrian access) and trees. 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment (DCC) - Comments as follows -  
 

"The temporary school is expected to cater for 130 pupils in its first year (reception, years 1, 
2, 3 and 7) rising to 182 the next year. The sole vehicular access is provided onto Gloucester 
Road. A secondary pedestrian access links onto Pines Avenue, although since the previous 
school here was closed this has become overgrown. 

The submitted application highlights that the pedestrian route to the south of the site will be 
reused as part of the development. This is an important measure for promoting sustainable 
travel to the site and it is recommended that its provision is secured through a condition of 
any planning permission. 

The vehicular access onto Gloucester Road is a priority junction. When this previously 
served as the access to the Foxhayes School there were “School Keep Clear” markings 
provided adjacent to the access. To provide a safe and suitable access to the site these 
markings should be reinstated, which is typically secured through a Traffic Regulation Order 
(TRO). The timescales to provide these at the time of September opening with the 

Page 4



appropriate TRO will be challenging. The applicant is therefore advised that in the interim 
these should be provided in line with specifications set out in the Traffic Signs Regulations 
and General Directions as advisory markings as part of the site access. Details of this will 
need to be agreed before implementation and it is recommended that this is secured through 
an appropriate condition. 

To enable enforcement of these markings they need to be supported by a Traffic Regulation 
Order. The cost of this will need to be funded by the applicant and therefore a contribution of 
£6,000 to cover the cost of implementing the necessary orders and removing these when 
any permission lapses is requested.  

The proposed site is approximately 330 metres from Exwick Heights Primary School. Current 
pick up and drop off at that school results in a concentrated period of high on street parking 
demand that creates a congested environment to the detriment to highway safety and 
amenity of local residents. This parking can, particularly in the afternoon, extend down past 
the junction of Gloucester Road and Knowle Drive close to the access of the Foxhayes site.  

As agreed with the highway authority, the applicant has submitted a transport statement 
alongside the application. This document highlights that the proposed development is 
expected to generate an additional 147 trips/day in the first year and 198 trips/day in the 
second year.  

If these additional movements were to occur concurrently as those at Exwick Heights it would 
be expected to significantly exacerbate the existing problems. This would increase the 
likelihood of unsafe manoeuvres on the public highway which could potentially have severe 
safety implications, particularly given the demographic of those likely to be on foot at the 
time. 

To mitigate this the applicant has highlighted that they propose to operate different opening 
times to the nearby Exwick Heights and the highway authority welcomes this move. This is 
fundamental to the acceptability of the application oh highway grounds and therefore 
recommended that a condition on the opening hours of the school is attached in the granting 
of any permission. 

We are pleased that the applicant has been in frequent liaison with the Highway Authority 
regarding the site Travel Plan. The submitted Travel Plan is comprehensive and covers a 
range of measures that should help to reduce the number of, particularly single occupancy, 
car borne trips. To ensure that the measures within this plan are adhered to a condition of 
that effect is recommended.  

The proposed application has the potential to have a severe impact on the operation and 
safety of the public highway. However, the applicant has put forward a number of measures, 
particularly with regards to opening hours, that can make the proposals acceptable to the 
highway authority. Subject to these measures being secured by conditions then the highway 
authority would raise no objection." 

 
Strategic Planning - Children's Services (DCC) - "I am writing  to confirm that Devon County 
Council is in ownership of the former Foxhayes Primary School site and has been in 
discussion with the Department for Education regarding the proposal. The Education 
Authority recognises the proposal supports the Governments' Free School programme 
targeted at increasing choice and diversity for parents." 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer - No objection in principle - Comments on design aspects 
from the perspective of minimising the potential for criminal activities. 
 
PLANNING POLICIES/POLICY GUIDANCE 
 
Central Government Guidance 
NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework - Para 14 Presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, Para 17 Core Planning Principles, Paras 32, 36-37, Paras 56-68 Requiring 
Good Design, Para 72 - Education provision, Para 212 Confirmation of Policies in NPPF as 

Page 5



material considerations, Para 215 weight to be attached to Local Plan policies in 
accordance with their degree of consistency with the NPPF 
 
DCLG Policy Statement on 'Planning for Schools Development'  August 2011 
 
Exeter Local Development Framework Core Strategy 
CP10 - Meeting Community Needs 
CP15 - Sustainable Construction 
CP17 - Design and Local Distinctiveness 
 
Exeter Local Plan First Review 1995-2011 
AP1 - Design and Location of Development 
AP2 - Sequential Approach  
T1 - Hierarchy of Modes 
T2 - Accessibility Criteria 
T3 - Encouraging Use of Sustainable Modes  
T10 - Car Parking Standards 
DG1 - Objectives of Urban Design 
DG7 - Crime Prevention and Safety 
 
Exeter City Council  
 
Sustainable Transport SPD 
 

OBSERVATIONS 

 
This site was previously occupied by Foxhayes Primary School and although all the school 
buildings have subsequently been demolished and cleared from the site the lawful planning 
use of the site remains use for the provision of education (Use class D1). Consequently, the 
principle of the re-use of this site by the Steiner Academy for a non-profit making 
independent state-funded school is inherently acceptable and the consideration of this 
proposal relates to the erection of temporary buildings and creation of outdoor play areas in 
connection with that use. 
 
Material to the consideration of this proposal is the Government's policy position regarding 
the development of schools as set out in paragraph 72 of the NPPF which states -  
 
"The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient 
choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities. Local planning authorities should take a pro active, positive and 
collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that 
will widen choice in education. They should: 
 
●  give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and 
 
●  work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues 
before applications are submitted." 
 
Funding for the creation of a state funded Steiner Academy free school has been allocated 
by the Department for Education. Whilst the search for a permanent site is on-going a 
temporary site is required to allow the school to meet the requirement to be open for 
admissions from September 2013. The application site was selected for the temporary 
school following pre-application discussion with officers of both the City and County Council. 
Permission has been sought for a maximum period of 3 years although it is envisaged that 
the move to a permanent site is likely to place sooner than that. 
 
When considering a location for the temporary school site the former Exwick Middle School 
site further along Gloucester Road was considered. However, this was dismissed due to its 

Page 6



proximity to the new Exwick Heights school and the potential highway issues arising from two 
schools in such close juxtaposition. Being slightly further away from the Exwick Heights 
school the application site was considered preferable in highway/transportation terms. 
 
Notwithstanding that provision of education is a lawful use of the application site most of the 
concerns expressed by the public in response to consultation have related to 
highway/transportation matters. The main concerns have related to traffic congestion and 
associated highway safety impact around drop-off and pick-up times, and pedestrian access 
to the school in terms of impact on surrounding residential areas. The main access to the 
school, including the vehicular access to the staff parking on site, will be off Gloucester Road 
as was the case for the former Primary School. Two bus stops are located within close 
proximity to the school entrance and therefore provide a convenient alternative mode of 
transport to the private car for potential pupils of the school. To further reduce potential 
congestion in the local area associated with drop-off/pick-up activities it is proposed to 
stagger the opening times of the school so that they are different to the opening times of the 
nearby Exwick Heights school. According to their website Exwick Heights Primary School 
operates as follows - 
 

• Nursery AM sessions open from 8.30 -11.30, PM sessions 12.30 -15.30 (with collection 
allowed from 15.15 onwards. 

• Key Stage 1 (Years 1&2) - Access to school ground from 8.25 (classrooms from 8.40), 
End of day 15.15 

• Key Stage 2 (Years 3,4,5,6) - Access to school ground from 8.25 (classrooms from 8.40), 
End of day 15.20. 

 
The Steiner Academy are proposing opening Hours of 9.00 - 15.30. The acceptability of 
these proposed opening hours from a transportation issue perspective are being discussed 
with the County Council and the outcome of these discussions will be reported at Committee. 
 
Utilising the pedestrian access into the site from Pine Avenue will reduce walking times to the 
school from parts of the City and the School Travel Plan will promote these routes as 
alternative means of access. The existence of this alternative access will also disperse drop-
off/pick-up vehicular traffic over a wider area and help to minimise congestion on Gloucester 
Road. The agent has been asked to clarify whether or not it is also the intention to utilise the 
existing pedestrian access leading to Truro Drive in connection with this proposal. 
 
It is understandable that local residents will be concerned about the inevitable increase in 
traffic in the local area associated with re-establishment of a school on site. However, it is not 
considered that a school accommodating a maximum of 182 pupils for a temporary period of 
up to 3 years will have such a significant adverse highway impact that would warrant refusal 
of the application. This is especially the case given the previous school use of the site, and 
the Government's stated policy position on school related development. The Highway 
Authority has confirmed that provided conditions are imposed regarding road markings, 
pedestrian access, parking, school travel plan and opening hours, and a contribution towards 
the cost of appropriate traffic orders outside the site is secured, the proposal is acceptable 
from a highway impact perspective. 
 
The relationship of the proposed school buildings and associated play areas to surrounding 
residential properties is a material planning consideration in respect of this proposal. The use 
of temporary buildings is considered acceptable in the context of the temporary nature of the 
proposal pending a permanent site for the Steiner Academy (which is actively being pursued) 
being delivered. 
 
The temporary buildings are single storey and will be sited in a group around the existing 
road and turning head within the site in a broadly similar position to the original school 
buildings. Given the massing of the proposed temporary buildings, and their positioning on 
the site, it is considered that the physical relationship to surrounding properties is acceptable 

Page 7



and would not be overbearing or prejudicial to the residential amenities of the occupants of 
those properties. The play area for the pre-school classroom is located between the 
temporary buildings and the side boundary of no 51 Gloucester Road and 57 Knowle Drive, it 
will be fenced and does not extend right up to the common boundary. This relationship is 
considered acceptable especially in light of the former school use of the site as a whole, and 
more specifically this part of the site as a grassed area that formed part of the school's 
available external play areas/ancillary land. The fact that this remains a lawful use of the land 
is also a material consideration. The remaining play area facilities to serve the temporary 
school involve the re-use of former play areas and hard surfaced playgrounds elsewhere 
within the site. 
 
Western Area Working Party (04/06/13) 
 
Members noted the representations raised, particularly those relating to traffic impact. Given 
the previous use of the site as a primary school, and the fact that the temporary buildings are 
to be located in a similar position to the original school buildings, members felt the impact of 
the proposal, and relationship to surrounding properties, was acceptable. Members noted 
that the application would be determined by Planning Committee. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The site has previously been used as a Primary school and this remains the lawful planning 
use of the land and this is material consideration in the assessment of the merits of this 
proposal. The proposal is for a temporary period of time pending a permanent site for the 
new Steiner Academy being finalised and delivered. The proposal will meet a recognised 
demand for additional school places in Exeter, and widen choice in terms of the type of 
education provision available within the City. As such the proposal is consistent with the 
Government's stated presumption in favour of the development of state-funded schools. 
Whilst the proposal will inevitably result in an increase in traffic movements around the site 
for the duration of the consent it is not considered, especially in light of the previous school 
use of this site, that the impact would be significantly adverse in terms of highway safety. The 
buildings themselves are modest in scale and their siting in relation to surrounding properties 
is considered acceptable. This temporary proposal is essential to the establishment of a new 
state-funded Steiner Academy in Exeter as the school needs to be operational by September 
2013 in line with funding arrangements and the fact that pupils have already applied for 
places at the school from that date. 
 
Overall the proposal is considered acceptable. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve subject to the following conditions: 
 
APPROVE subject to the following conditions: 
 
1) C05  -  Time Limit - Commencement 
 
2) The buildings hereby approved shall be wholly removed from the site and the use 

shall be discontinued and the site restored to its former condition no later  31st July 
2016 .  
Reason:  The buildings are temporary in nature and are unsuitable as a permanent 
features in this locality. 

 
3) The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than in strict 

accordance with the submitted details received by the Local Planning Authority on 
2nd and 20th May 2013 (dwg. nos. Site Location plan, 72/0008274-101 Rev J, SK-
01 Rev A, 07R-678DCT-21-01 Rev C and 07R-372SCT-21-01 Rev D), as modified 
by other conditions of this consent. 

Page 8



Reason:  In order to ensure compliance with the approved drawings. 
 
4) The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the pedestrian 

access from the site onto Pine Avenue has been re-instated for use in accordance 
with measures that shall previously have been submitted to and agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the said access shall be maintained and 
made available for use in accordance with those details for the duration of the 
consent. 
Reason: To ensure that adequate facilities are available for the traffic attracted to 
the site, in the interest of public safety 

 
5) Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority in writing no part of the 

development hereby approved shall be brought into its intended use until  
(1) the access, parking facilities, turning area and associated road markings have 
been provided in accordance with details that shall have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, and 
(2) the applicant has entered into a Section 106 Agreement, or equivalent 
arrangement, with the County Council to secure the making of a Traffic Regulation 
Order relating to the road markings referred to in (1) above. 
Thereafter those items referred to in (1) above shall be retained for the intended 
purpose at all times. 
Reason : To ensure that a safe and suitable access is provided for all users to the 
site, in accordance with paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
6) The School Travel Plan prepared by RPS Planning and Development Ltd on behalf 

of the Education Funding Agency, and submitted in support of this application, shall 
be implemented in full upon commencement of the development hereby approved. 
Thereafter it shall be reviewed on an annual basis in accordance with the provisions 
set out in Section 4.3 of the document. Any amendments identified in the annual 
review shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Planning Authority and 
shall thereafter form part of the approved plan. 
Reason - To ensure that the development is implemented in such a way as to 
minimise the highway impact of the development and encourage the use of 
sustainable modes of transport. 

 
7) School opening hours (to be confirmed in update sheet following further negotiation) 
 
 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) 1985 (as amended). 
Background papers used in compiling the report: 
 
Files of planning applications available for inspection from the Customer Service Centre, 
Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter: Telephone 01392 265223 

 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. 13/3219/03 - Former Foxhayes Primary School, Gloucester Road, Exeter

